PLANNING AND ORDERS COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 4 September, 2013

PRESENT:	Councillor W.T. Hughes – Chair Councillor Ann Griffith – Vice-Chair
	Councillors Lewis Davies, Jeffrey M. Evans, John Griffiths, K.P. Hughes, Vaughan Hughes, Victor Hughes, Raymond Jones, Richard O. Jones, Nicola Roberts.
IN ATTENDANCE:	Planning Development Manager (DFJ), Planning Assistants, Senior Engineer (Development Control) (EDJ), Development Control Officer (Highways) (RE), Legal Services Manager, Committee Officer (MEH), Administrative Assistant (SC).
APOLOGIES:	None
ALSO PRESENT:	Councillor J. Arwel Roberts – Portfolio Holder (Planning & Environment);
	Local Members : Councillors Jim Evans & Alun Mummery (application 7.4).
	Councillors R.A. Dew, T.LI. Hughes, Bob Parry OBE.

1 APOLOGIES

None.

2 DECLARATION OF INTEREST

Declarations of interest were made as follows :-

Councillor Lewis Davies in respect of application 7.4; Councillor T. Victor Hughes in respect of application 7.5; Councillor W.T. Hughes in respect of application 7.1 and 12.7;

Councillors Lewis Davies, Ann Griffith, John Griffith, Vaughan Hughes and Nicola Roberts declared a personal interest on account of the reference to wind turbines within the Plaid Cymru Manifesto but said that they would consider each application on its own merit.

3 MINUTES

The minutes of the previous meeting of the Planning and Orders Committee held on 31 July, 2013 were presented and confirmed, subject to the following amendment with reference to application 13.3 :-

(Councillor Ann Griffith wished it to be recorded that she did not mention an SPG during deliberations in respect of application 13.3).

4 SITE VISITS

The minutes of the Site Visits held on 21 August, 2013 were presented and confirmed.

5 PUBLIC SPEAKING

The Chair announced that there was Public Speaker present in respect of application 7.4.

6 APPLICATIONS THAT WILL BE DEFERRED

6.1 34C553a – Outline application for residential development including extra care facility, highway and associated infrastructure at Ty'n Coed, Llangefni

The Planning Development Manager stated that the application will need to be deferred due to pending discussions relating to the terms of the S106 agreement in respect of affordable housing and the requirements of the Education Authority.

It was RESOLVED to defer consideration of the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation and for the reasons given.

6.2 46c427K/TR/EIA/ECON - A hybrid planning application proposing :-

Outline planning application, with all matters reserved except for means of access proposing:

A leisure village at Penrhos Coastal Park, London Road, Holyhead comprising up to 500 new leisure units including new lodges, cottages and conversion of the existing estate buildings; central new hub building comprising reception, leisure facilities including indoor water park, ten pin bowling and indoor sports hall and cafes, bars, restaurants and retail; refurbishment and extension of estate buildings to provide central farmer's market, indoor children's play area, cycle and sports hire centre, spa with gymnasium and changing facilities, the boathouse ruins for new café and watersports centre, and the bathing house to become a new beachside restaurant; providing and maintaining 29 hectares of publicly accessible areas with public car parking and enhancements to the coastal path, including managed walkways within 15 hectares of woodland, the retention and enhancement of grace's pond, lily pond, scout's pond with viewing platforms, the pet cemetery, war memorial, the pump house and picnic area with bird feeding stations and hides with educational and bilingual interpretation boards created throughout: creation of a new woodland sculpture trail and boardwalks and enhanced connection to the coastal path; retention of public access to the beach and shallow coastal waters and a combined heat and power centre.

Land at Cae Glas : The erection of leisure village accommodation and facilities which could be used initially as a temporary construction workers accommodation complex for Wylfa B at land at Cae Glas, Parc Cybi, Holyhead comprising: up to 315 lodges to be initially sub-divided to accommodate up to 2,000 construction workers; central hub building providing reception and canteen ancillary to accommodation; A Park and Ride facility comprising up to 700 car parking spaces; a new hotel; a lakeside hub comprising restaurant, café, retails and bar; new grass football pitch and cricket pitch; and a combined heat and power centre. to be subsequently converted (post Wylfa B construction) into a high quality extension to the Penrhos Coastal Park leisure village comprising refurbished lodges and facility buildings to create a high quality holiday accommodation (up to 315 family lodges); A visitor centre and nature reserve allowing controlled public access; and heritage centre with visitor parking.

Land at Kingsland : The erection of a residential development which has been designed to be used initially as temporary construction workers accommodation at land at Kingsland, Kingsland Road, Holyhead comprising: Up to 360 new houses to be initially used as temporary construction workers accommodation. To be subsequently converted (post Wylfa B construction) into a residential development comprising : Up to 360 residential dwelling set in high quality landscaping and open spaces. Each phase of development will have ancillary development comprising car parking, servicing areas, open spaces and plant.

Full details for the change of use of the existing Estate buildings at Penrhos Coastal Park, London Road, Holyhead including the change of use for : The Bailiffs Tower and outbuildings at Penrhos Home Farm from a cricket clubhouse to a visitors information centre, restaurant, café, bars and retail; Home Farm Barn and Cart Buildings from farm buildings to cycle and sports hire centre; The Tower from residential to a Managers accommodation and ancillary office; and Beddmanarch House from residential to a visitors centre at Penrhos Coastal Park, Cae Glas a Kingsland, Holyhead

It was noted that it is anticipated that a full report on this application will be presented to the October, 2013 meeting of the Planning and Orders Committee. Additional and amended information is being consulted and notified at the time of writing the report to this Committee.

It was RESOLVED to defer consideration of the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation and for the reasons given.

7 APPLICATIONS ARISING

7.1 20LPA962/CC – Retrospective application for the recently constructed track together with improvements to the existing access on land opposite Fron Heulog, Cemaes

(Councillor W.T. Hughes declared a personal interest in respect of this application. The Vice-Chair took the Chair during discussion of the application).

(Councillors Lewis Davies, K.P. Hughes and R.O. Jones stated that they were not present during the site visit and therefore would not be voting in respect of this application).

The application is presented to the Committee as the Isle of Anglesey County Council is the applicant and land owner.

The Planning Development Manager stated that following the last meeting of the Planning and Orders Committee the Planning Officers have contacted the applicant (the County Council) to ascertain the possibility of moving the access to another location. The applicant has responded that this is not possible and has requested that the Committee should deal with the application as submitted.

Councillor A. Griffith proposed that the application be approved and Councillor N. Roberts seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation, subject to the conditions contained within the report.

7.2 22C211C – Full application for the erection of one wind turbine with a maximum hub height of 25m, a rotor diameter of 19.24m and a maximum vertical upright height of 34.37m on land at Yr Orsedd, Llanddona

The application was presented to the Committee as it has been decided that delegated powers will not be used in connection with wind turbine developments. The site was visited on 21st August, 2013.

The Planning Development Manager stated that the applicant has requested that the application be deferred to allow him to deal with issues raised by Officers in respect of the effect on the landscape. It was noted that the recommendation of the Officers is of refusal in respect of this application.

Councillor K. P. Hughes proposed that the application be deferred and Councillor R.O. Jones seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to defer consideration of the application at the request of the applicant.

(Councillor Vaughan Hughes stated that he did not vote in respect of this application as he was not present at the Site Visit).

7.3 34C648A – Outline application for the erection of a dwelling together with alterations to the existing access on land at Pwros, Rhosmeirch

(Councillor Lewis Davies stated that he would not take part in discussion of the application nor vote as he was not present at the last meeting of the Planning and Orders Committee)

The application was presented to the Committee at the request of a Local Member.

It was noted that at the meeting of the Planning and Orders Committee 31 July, 2013 it was resolved to approve the application contrary to Officer's recommendation as it was considered that the site is within the logical settlement limit.

The Planning Development Manager stated that the Officer's still consider that the application should be refused and noted the Officers response to Members reasons for approving the application :-

- The site is considerably removed from the built up part of the settlement;
- Development on this site would extend the built development into the countryside and constitute clear ribbon development;
- The development cannot be classed as an infill or acceptable site as it is not immediately adjacent to the developed part of the hamlet;
- It is clearly in the countryside;
- Approving the application would make further intrusions difficult to resist.

Councillor Nicola Roberts, one of the Local Members, stated that the dwelling would be a reasonable extension to the village; it will not be an unacceptable intrusion into the landscape and would not harm the character of the area. She considered that the application is fair as the dwelling would be 200 yards from the play area in Rhosmeirch and near other dwellings.

Policy 51 of the Local Development Plan states that developments should fit into land in the vicinity without unduly affecting the landscape; as Pwros and other dwellings are near the site this application would not affect the area. The site is near the main sewer of the village of Rhosmeirch and it is logical that the application would fit into the vicinity and is not a dwelling therefore in the countryside. The applicant is confident that they can comply with Ynys Môn local policies in respect of conservation and building work. They can also respond favourably to any policy i.e. Policy 48, GP1 and GP2 of the Unitary Development Plan. She referred to Policy 50 of the Plan which states: 'forms a reasonable minor extension to the existing developed part of the settlement and would not constitute an undesirable intrusion into the landscape or harm the character and harm the amenities of the locality.'

The Local Member reminded the Members of the Committee that there has been no objection to this application within Rhosmeirch; only letters of support have been received. This dwelling will be for a local Welsh family and is a reasonable extension to the village.

Councillor Vaughan Hughes stated that this is a type of application that he was happy to approve. He referred to a conference at Aberystwyth were the First Minister, Mr. Carwyn Jones AS stated that more weight needed to be given to the Welsh language following the disappointment result of the decline of the Welsh language in the censures. He considered that more weight should be given to the Welsh language issues when dealing with planning matters. The Legal Services Manager responded that he was not aware that the statement by the First Minister was a Ministerial Statement of National Planning Policy or that such a planning consideration would oust all other considerations from being material. He further referred to the comments by the Local Member in respect of 'undesirable intrusion'; the dwelling is in a field at the end of the village and not between two houses. Even though the dwelling would be near the Community Centre, Pwros and near the main sewerage system, it is not considered that it would be acceptable within the meaning of Policy 51 as the Officers have addressed it within the report to the meeting. Approving this application would set a precedent for further development in the locality and in similar locations on the Island.

Councillor J.M. Evans agreed with the Local Member and considered that the site is within the vicinity of the village of Rhosmeirch and proposed to reaffirm the decision of the Committee to approve the application. Councillor Vaughan Hughes seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to reaffirm the resolution to approve the application, contrary to the Officer's recommendation and for the reasons previously stated in that the proposal was a reasonable minor extension to the settlement.

(Councillor Raymond Jones abstained).

7.4 41C8C – Full application for the change of use of land for the siting of 33 touring caravans, erection of a toilet block, construction of a vehicular access together with landscaping at Garnedd Ddu, Star

(Councillor Lewis Davies declared a personal interest in respect of this application and left the meeting during discussion and voting thereon).

The application was presented to the Committee as the previous Local Member had called-in the application. The Committee, at the recommendation of the Officers, undertook a site visit on 19th June, 2013. Further information was submitted in support of the application and in order to allow the expiry of neighbour notification and the consideration of representations and consultation replies arising from this additional information, the application was recommended for deferral at the meeting of the Planning and Orders Committee on 3rd July and 31st June, 2013.

The Chair invited Mr. Dafydd Idriswyn, as an objector to the application to address the Committee.

Mr. Dafydd Idriswyn stated that he was representing a fellow Community Councillor, Councillor Gwyn Roberts who had asked him to read a declaration on his behalf. The declaration stated that the Community Councillor spoke as someone who would be severely affected by this proposed caravan site and also as a Parish Councillor representing the majority of the population of Star. He referred to the following main issues :-

- Members will have seen a recent petition presented by the people of Star to the Planning Service and may also have noticed a similar petition presented about two years ago against the same application. The fact that this application has dragged on since February of 2010 indicates that there is something radically wrong in the concept.
- The first objection relates to the unsuitability of the ¹/₂ mile approach road to the site. This single carriageway track was constructed primarily as an access road to 8 or 9 dwellings, although the current applicants have since added to the volume of traffic by the construction of 7 holiday chalets at their premises. Contrary to the report of the Highways officer, there is only one passing bay along the route and members of the committee who attended a site visit will have experienced the congestion on this narrow track.
- Furthermore, another 33 cars and caravans on this road will seriously compromise road safety for residents' vehicles and pedestrians alike. Many residents of Star enjoy a stroll along this road, this amenity will be lost forever if this application is allowed.
- Members will also have read the report entitled "Landscape Visual and Impact Assessment" prepared by a Landscape Architect and which replaces an earlier discredited version by an unknown author. The current Report, paragraph 8.3 states "Significant visual effects would be experienced at residential properties situated adjacent to the application site up to around 0.5 km from the proposed development". The Architect then names nine properties nearby that would be so adversely affected. This would be grossly inconsiderate in terms of the devaluation of these named properties.
- The nuisance value to local residents in terms of loss of amenity, traffic volume with increased noise and fumes and congestion on the road is unacceptable to all concerned. There is also the public health hazard as the population could increase to well over a hundred people at any given time.
- Finally, there is the social aspect. This site is isolated from convenience stores and from any form of entertainment, consequently dozens of visitors will wander aimlessly around this quiet and peaceful part of our countryside. The outcome will eventually persuade the proprietors to apply for a shop, a clubhouse and an on-licence for the club. Another corner of our Island commercialised and ruined.
- The people of Star and beyond have spoken with one voice; this development is not welcomed socially, economically, environmentally or morally and I respectfully ask

Members of the Committee to respect the wishes of the residents and to reject the application once and for all.

The Planning Development Manager stated that further letters had been received in respect of this application and they had been included within the documentation to the Committee. He further stated that Natural Resources Wales have also responded that they have no further issues with drainage matters.

The Officer stated that it was obvious that the local community is concerned in respect of the effect on local amenities and traffic nuisance. He noted that the Highways Department have stated that they are satisfied with the application as far as the Traffic Management Plan is submitted by the applicant. A condition would be attached to the approval of the application if the Committee was minded to approve the application.

Councillors Jim Evans and Alun Mummery, two of the Local Members, stated that they did not wish to make representations in respect of this application as it had been called-in by the previous elected Member. However they stated that the concerns of the local residents need to be considered by the Committee in respect of this application.

Councillor T. Victor Hughes stated that following a Site Visit to this site in June, 2013 it was obvious that the access and the narrow road to the site could be a problem. He considered that passing bays and a lay-by should be created near the site. The Highways Officer responded that passing bays could be an option to alleviate traffic issues in the area.

Councillor Ann Griffith proposed that the application be approved as amended to include passing bays and Councillor Nicola Roberts seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation, subject to the conditions contained within the report, together with an additional condition in respect of additional passing bays on the highway.

(Councillor R.O. Jones stated that he did not vote in respect of this application as he was not present at the Site Visit.)

7.5 42C231 – Full application for the erection of 13 new dwellings, together with creation of a new access on land at The Sidings, Pentraeth

(Councillor T. Victor Hughes declared a personal interest in respect of this application and left the meeting during discussion and voting thereon).

The application is a departure from the Local Plan Policy but can be permitted under the Unitary Development Plan. The Committee undertook a site visit to the site on 17 July, 2013.

The Planning Development Manager stated that the application was deferred at the last meeting to allow the Planning Officers to obtain evidence of land ownership. The Planning Officers have made enquiries with the applicant in respect of the wishes of the Committee and the applicant has afforded the 'Land Registration Title Deeds' to the Planning Authority and has revised the 'red-line' around the site to address any issues as to ownership. It was further stated that a letter has been received by the Solicitor of the Objector to the application who is challenging the ownership of a strip of land near a building to the front of the site. The size of the strip of land is around a quarter/half the size of a parking space. Therefore it is obvious that there is a dispute in respect of ownership of this land as both sides are claiming ownership of the strip of land.

The Officer, in his professional opinion, stated that he did not see that this is a matter for the Planning Committee; the matter is between the applicant and the objector with recourse to law if necessary. It is not completely clear who is right or wrong in this situation and the Council cannot stand in judgement where the evidence of the parties is disputed. Therefore as a Planning Officer he had to deal with the application as it stands. 27 letters of objection has been received with one letter with 24 signatures. These letters were included within the documentation for the Committee.

The Planning Development Manager reminded the Committee that a planning approval already exists for 8 dwellings on this site. The principle of building houses on the site has already been established. There was a long debate at the last Committee in respect of Highways issues. The Officer reaffirmed that the Highways Authority has not raised concerns and therefore there are no technical obstacles in respect of land use reasons not to deal with the application. The recommendation of the Planning Officer's is to approve the application, with a S106 agreement which ensures a percentage of affordable dwellings on the site in accordance with the Councils policies.

The Planning Development Manager reported that the public consultation period does not come to an end until the 5th September, 2013 and requested that the Officer's be afforded power to act following the public consultation period if no new representations have been received by the Department.

Councillor Vaughan Hughes, a Local Member, expressed that in relation to democracy and transparency the applicants and objectors should be allowed to speak at every occasion when a planning application is deliberated. He stated that the local residents/objectors are concerned that the application is contrary to Policy A6 of Ynys Môn Development Plan and Policy 53 of the Gwynedd Policies.

He continued to state that as the developer has submitted a revised plan, there is still a dispute in respect the ownership of a strip on land to the front of the development. The Planning Department has confirmed that the objector has informed the Department in respect of this matter. Councillor Hughes accepted that the matter was a legal issue but questioned how wise it was to make a decision on the application whilst the legal issues continue.

The objectors are of the opinion that there is over development on the site as the development site is too small for 13 dwellings. It is anticipated that young families will live at these dwelling and the lack of amenities for children could be a problem. The site is much lower than the main highway in front of the development site. The need to fill the site to the level of a busy highway can cause problem with large lorries carrying materials to the site.

Councillor Jeff M. Evans agreed with the Local Member that it is difficult to consider the application due to legal issues in respect of ownership of the land and stated that he would abstain from voting in respect of the application.

Councillor Ann Griffith proposed that the application be approved and Councillor John Griffith seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application and to grant the Officer's power to act following the statutory public consultation period coming to an end.

(Councillors Lewis Davies, K.P. Hughes and R.O. Jones stated that they would not take part in discussion or voting in respect of this application as they were not present at the Site Visit.)

7.6 47LPA966/CC – Outline application for residential development, together with demolition of the former school on land at Ysgol Gynradd Llanddeusant, Llanddeusant

The application was presented to the Committee as the application is made by the Council on land partly owned by the Local Authority.

Councillors K.P. Hughes and John Griffith, two of the Local Members stated that residents of Llanddeusant were concerned that the former school was to be demolished. Residents considered that the school is of good structure and should be incorporated into the application presented by the County Council. The Members considered that the application should be deferred to allow negotiations with the local residents and the Community Council.

Councillor Raymond Jones proposed that the application be deferred and Councillor Nicola Roberts seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to defer consideration of the application and to request the applicant to consider amending the application to make it more acceptable to residents.

8 ECONOMIC APPLICATIONS

None considered at this meeting.

9 AFFORDABLE HOUSING APPLICATIONS

None considered at this meeting.

10 DEPARTURE APPLICATIONS

None considered at this meeting.

11 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS BY COUNCILLORS AND OFFICERS

11.1 26C85C – Full application for the erection of an agricultural building for the purpose of housing animals and general store at Parciau Home Farm, Marianglas

The application was presented to the Committee as the applicant is related to a Senior Officer in the Council. The application has been scrutinised by the Monitoring Officer as required under paragraph 4.6.10.4 of the Constitution.

The Planning Development Manager reported that CADW, Welsh Water and the Ecological Advisor have now responded and are satisfied with the application.

Councillor K.P. Hughes proposed that the application be approved and Councillor Nicola Roberts seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation, subject to the conditions contained within the report.

12 REMAINDER APPLICATIONS

12.1 19C5Q – Full application for the construction of a physical memorial on land to the west of the commemorative monument to the Royal Visit in 1958 at Beach Road, Holyhead

The application was presented to the Committee as the application is made on Council owned land.

The Planning Development Manager reported that public consultation period does not come to an end until the 5th September, 2013 and requested that the Officer's be afforded power to act following the public consultation period if no representations have been received by the department.

Councillor K.P. Hughes proposed that the application be approved and Councillor R.O. Jones seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application and to grant the Officer's power to act following the statutory public consultation period coming to an end.

12.2 19C760D – Retrospective application for the retention of retaining boundary wall together with the proposed construction of a glass balustrade at 7 Plas Road, Holyhead

The application was presented to the Committee at the request of one of the Local Members (Councillor T.LI. Hughes).

Councillor T. Victor Hughes proposed that the application be approved and Councillor Lewis Davies seconded the proposal.

It was **RESOLVED** to approve the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation, subject to the conditions contained within the report.

12.3 19LPA985/CC – Full application for the erection of a plaque at 19 Stanley Street, Holyhead

The application was presented to the Committee as the application is made by the Local Authority.

The Planning Development Manager reported that the Holyhead Town Council has now responded favourable to the application.

Councillor K.P. Hughes proposed that the application be approved and Councillor Vaughan Hughes seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation, subject to the conditions contained within the report.

12.4 30LPA986/CC – Change of use of land to form an extension to the existing cemetery at St. Peters Church, Llanbedrgoch

The application was presented to the Committee as the application is made by the Local Authority.

Councillor John Griffith proposed that the application be approved and Councillor Lewis Davies seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation, subject to the conditions contained within the report.

12.5 34LPA850G/CC – Full application for the erection of a nursery unit and car parking area on land at Ysgol y Graig, Llangefni

The application was presented to the Committee as the application has been made by the Local Authority on Council owned land.

Councillor T. Victor Hughes proposed that the application be approved and Councillor John Griffith seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation, subject to the conditions contained within the report.

12.6 35LPA929A/CC – Change of use of former flat into restaurant/café at Haulfre, Llangoed

The application was presented to the Committee as the site is owned by the County Council.

Councillor Ann Griffith proposed that the application be approved and Councillor Nicola Roberts seconded the proposal.

It was **RESOLVED** to approve the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation, subject to the conditions contained within the report.

12.7 38C219C – Full application for the erection of one 10kW wind turbine with a maximum hub height of 15m, a rotor diameter of 9.7m and a maximum vertical upright height of 19.5m on land at Cae Mawr, Llanfechell

(Councillor W.T. Hughes declared a personal interest in respect of this application.)

The application was presented to the Committee as it has been decided that delegated powers will not be used in connection with wind turbine developments.

The Planning Development Manager stated that Mr. David Heathcote a local resident had intended to speak in respect of this application but was unable to attend and had requested that a statement be read out to the Committee. The Officer read out the statement of objection to the application to the Committee.

Councillor K.P. Hughes as one of the Local Members expressed that the wind turbine will be used solely for farm use and is of a small diameter. He considered that the application should be supported.

Councillor T. Victor Hughes stated that he favoured that the site be visited to allow the Members to view the site in question as previous proposals of this nature have been the subject of a site visit.

Councillor T. Victor Hughes thereafter proposed that the site be visited and Councillor Nicola Roberts seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED that a site visit be undertaken for the reasons given.

12.8 34LPA984/CC – Full application for the erection of 7 industrial units together with associated car parking at Penyrorsedd Industrial Estate, Llangefni

The application was presented to the Committee as the County Council is the land owner.

Councillor Ann Griffith proposed that the application be approved and Councillor John Griffith seconded the proposal.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application in accordance with the Officer's recommendation, subject to the conditions contained within the report.

13 OTHER MATTERS

13.1 35LPA929B/CC/LB – Listed Building Consent for internal and external alterations at Haulfre, Llangoed

It was noted that the application will be forwarded to the National Assembly for Wales for determination in accordance with Regulation 13 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

It was RESOLVED to note the report for information.

13.2 46LPA972/CC – Full application for the conversion of the former public convenience into a dwelling at South Stack Public Convenience, South Stack, Holyhead

The application was presented to the Committee as the application is made by the Council on County Council owned land.

It was noted that full planning has been granted in April 2013 for the change of use of the former public convenience into a dwelling together with alterations and extension thereto. The applicant has requested minor amendments to the application. The amendments consist of increasing the size of the three windows in the front elevation which lies fronting the highway.

The proposed amendments are considered to be acceptable and will not affect the character of the building or harm the amenities of the occupants of the neighbouring properties.

It was RESOLVED to approve the application.

COUNCILLOR W.T. HUGHES CHAIR